Development of a Renewable Fuels Roadmap and
Sustainable Biom ass Feedstock Study for New York
Request for Proposals (RFP): 1249
$750,000 Available
PROPOSALS DUE: Tuesday, August 12, 2008
5:00 pm Eastern Time*

The New York State Energy Research and Development Authority (NYSERDA ) Request for Proposals (RFP) 1249
seeks proposals to develop and conduct a Renewable Fuels Roadmap and Sustainable Biomass Feedstock Study
for New York (“the Roadmap”). NYSERD A is issuing this RFP in coordination with the New York State Department
of Environmental Conservation and the New York State Department of Agriculture & Markets.
For the purposes of the Roadmap,“renewable fuels” refers to biomass-based liquid fuels (“biofuels”). The
Roadmap is intended to assess critical environmental, capacity, technology, efficiency, and economic issues for
renewable fuels. This assessment will provide policy makers with a better understanding of the possible impacts
that increased use of renewable fuels might have on economic development, energy supplies and diversity, the
environment and public health. The Roadmap should suggest possible strategies and actions for mitigating
possible negative impacts and ensure sustainable feedstock production. Furthermore, it will help identify the
rene wa ble fue ls, feed stocks, pa thways, and app lications that would be sustaina ble and p rovide the mo st benefit to
Ne w Y ork S tate by reducing dependence on imported fossil fuels, reducing life cycle greenhouse gases of the
overall fossil fuel and renewable fuel mix, enhancing the environment, optimizing the use of available biomass,
and creating ec ono mic opp ortun ity . The Roadm ap w ill evalua te comp eting uses for va rious feedstocks used to
make renewable fuels, and consider New York State’s unique land use patterns, water, biomass, and other
resources. Because the renewable fuel industry is changing rapidly, the Roadmap is intended to be updated
periodically to identify more economical and sustainable sources of renewable fuels progressing toward carbon
neutrality. Th e R oadm ap will address renewa ble fuels tha t are currently be ing use d, near-term renew able fuels
that are very close to contributing to the reduction in fossil fuel use in a three to ten year time horizon, and
promising future renewable fuels that may make significant contributions to fossil fuel reductions in more than ten
years.
NY SE RD A has a total of $750 ,000 available unde r this RFP . It is anticipa ted that one contract will be a wa rded .
Cost sharing is not required. Leveraging of other funding is encouraged.

PROPOSAL SUBMISSION:
Proposers must submit one (1) original and nine (9) copies of the proposal (10 total), with a completed and
signed Proposal Checklist attached to the front of each copy, one of which must contain an original signature,
clearly labeled and subm itted to:
Roseanne Viscusi, RFP No. 1249
NYSERDA
17 C olum bia C ircle
Albany, NY 12203-6399
If you have technical questions concerning this solicitation, contact Judy Jarnefeld at (518) 862-1090,
ext.3293 or jj1@nyserda.org. If you have contractual questions concerning this solicitation, contact Nancy
Marucci at (518) 86 2-10 90, ext. 333 5 or nsm @ nyserda .org.
No com munication intended to influ ence this p rocurement is pe rmitted exc ept by contacting Jud y Jarnefeld
(Designated C ontact) at (518) 862-1090, ext. 3293 or jj1@ nys erda.org. C ontacting anyon e other than this
Designated Contact (either directly by the proposer or indirectly through a lobbyist or other person acting on the
proposer’s behalf) in an attempt to influence the procurement: (1) may result in a proposer being deemed a
non -resp ons ible offerer, and (2) m ay result in the pro pos er no t being awarde d a contra ct.
*Late proposals and proposals lacking the appropriate completed and signed Proposal Checklist will be
returned. Faxed or e-mailed proposals will not be accepted. Proposals will not be accepted at any other
NYSE RDA location other than the address above. If changes are made to this solicitation, notification will be
pos ted on NYS ER DA ’s we b site a t ww w.nys erda.org .

I. INTRODUCTION
GOALS AND OBJECTIVES
In their February 200 8 rep ort, the G overnor’s R ene wable Energ y Task Force (“the Task Forc e”)
recommended that a Renewable Fuels Roadmap and Sustainable Biomass Feedstock Study for
New York (“the Roadmap”) be developed.
http://www.state.ny.us/governor/press/lt_RETF_Report.pdf
The Task Force rep ort stated that New York first needs to assess c ritical environmental, capacity,
technology, efficiency, and economic issues for renewable fuels. This assessment will provide
policy m akers with a better understanding of the possible imp acts tha t incre ased use of renew able
fuels may have on the environment and public health and should put forth a plan to mitigate potential
negative im pacts a nd ensure sustainable fee dstock production. The goal of the Ro admap is to h elp
identify the renewable fuels, feedstocks, pathways, and applications that would be sustainable and
provide the most benefit to New York State by re ducing dependence on imp orted fossil fuels,
reducing life cycle greenhouse gases of the overall fossil fuel and renewable fuel mix,, enhancing
the environ ment, optimizing the use of ava ilable biomass, and creating economic op portunity. In this
way, the Roadmap will not only identify steps necessary to develop the industry in New York State,
but by e stablish ing sustainability criteria, will position e nviro nm ent, land -use, and health concerns in
the forefront of the analysis. Sustainability criteria and indicators will be developed to assess
biomass feedstocks and renewable fuel production in New York State. Though there is currently no
clear consensus on specific criteria to define s ustainability, for purpo ses of this R oad ma p, the term
"sustainab ility" refers to N ew York's desire to create an e conom ically viable renewable fuels industry
that: optimizes and protects New York's resources; does not create unacceptable environmental
imp acts; an d m aintains production and consumption needs wh ile no t adversely affecting the ability to
do the same in the future.
The R oadm ap will evaluate competing uses for va rious feedstocks used to m ake renewa ble fuels
and consider New York State’s unique land use patterns and resources. The Roadmap will address
renew able fue ls tha t are currently being used, near-term renew able fue ls tha t are very clos e to
significantly contributing to the reduction in fossil fuel use in a three to ten year time period, and
promising future renewa ble fuels tha t may m ake significant contributions to fossil fuel reduction s in
more than ten ye ars. Finally, it w ill identify technical or market barriers and suggest ways to
ove rcome them .
The New York State Energy Research and Development Authority (NYSERDA), a member of the
Task Force, was requested to work in consultation with the Governor’s Office and the other agencies
on the Task Force, including the New York State Department of Environmental Conservation, the
New York State Department of Agriculture & Markets, and the New York State Department of
Econom ic Deve lopment to deve lop the Ro admap. To meet the goals, N YS ER DA seeks proposals to
develop and complete a comprehensive Roadmap that: 1) addresses life-cycle environmental and
public health co nsequences of renewa ble fuels co mpared to fossil fuels; 2 ) outlines sustainability
criteria and best management practices to mitigate potential negative impacts; 3) analyzes New
York State land use, resource condition, a nd feedstock su pply (ba seline a nd potential) an d local,
state and regional economic effects; 4) evaluates technological and economic barriers to largescale feedstock production in New York and analyzes potential solutions; 5) compares current and
future renewa ble fuel feed stock a nd process te chnologies to each other, current and future fossil
fuels, and competing uses for biomass in terms of sustainability criteria, highest-value uses, and
commercial viability in New York State.
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Specific objectives, in no particular order of priority, are to explore:
�
the life cycle environmental and public health consequences including all upstream
emissions and the sources of those emissions, as well as direct land use and wa ter use
impacts of expanding the development and deployment of renewable fuels. Proposers will be
expected to build upon and address gaps outlined in the draft Executive Summary of
NY SE RD A R eport 08-07, "The Environ mental Im pacts o f Biofuels in N ew York State,"
ava ilable at: http://www.nyserda.org/publications/default.asp with emphasis on developing a
better understanding of: 1) the role of renewable fuels in air quality, climate impacts, water
resources and ecosystems; and, 2) m ethodologies, emission factors, and life-cycle
greenhouse gas default values to quantify emissions and direct and indirect lan d use imp acts
of the production and use of renewable fuels;

�

how varying the scale of renewable fuel production volumes, and varying time frames for
implementation of specific production volumes will impact New York. (For example, at what
scale does production of renewable fuel using current technology become unsustainable or
unecon omical? At wh at scale is it unsustainable or une conom ical using future technology?
How will the markets for competing uses for biomass feedstocks be affected as the scale of
renewable fue l production varie s? Are there specific business m odels to produce renew able
fuels that becom e m ore e ffective a s production volumes increase? How does New Y ork
avo id unintended negative consequences? H ow do those answers change if the tim e scale is
accelerated? How do those answers change when different renewable fuels or different
pathways to produce them are considered?)

�

the developm ent of best practices for supplying feedstocks and producing renew able fue ls
on a sustainable basis, including assessing available and emerging sustainability criteria and
indicato rs; asse ssin g how farm ing and forestry practices and processing techniques specific
to New York could increase sustainable feedstock production and improve carbon storage;
defining ba rriers to tracking and verifying use of best practices; defining what N ew York
feedstocks and locations for growing feedstocks meet best practices or proposed
sustainability criteria; and, defining the extent proposed sustainability criteria scenarios may
constrain b iomass feedstock supplies in Ne w Y ork. (N ote: the best practices that are
developed for solid biomass that is u sed in renew able fue ls production will likely also apply to
use of solid biomass in o ther applica tions su ch as powe r production );

�

the current indu strial and research base in Ne w Y ork that can participate in th e renewa ble
fuels market, including interaction with land managem ent entities, government agencies,
equipment manufacturers, and existing forest products and agricultural industries in New
York and the Northeast Region;

�

the distribution infrastructure to bring fuels to ma rket, including assessing how New Y ork
can strengthen its infrastructure to ensure its distribution network is both adequate and
compatible to support m ultiple fuel distribution needs as we transition to adva nced biofuels
and cellulosic feedstocks; assessing how New Y ork can o ptimize infrastructu re
imp rovem ents to n ot only serve N ew York’s n eeds for renewa ble fuels, bu t benefit the S tate
in m ultiple wa ys; and, assessin g the enviro nm ental an d economic be nefits tha t may re sult
from system integration or system components (i.e. feedstocks, renewable fuel
man ufacturers, and distributers) being in close proximity;

�

an assessm ent of workforce and training needs and identification of potential relevant
assista nce program s;

�

the financial resources necessary to build a sustainable renewable fuels industry and
identification of potential sou rces of funding;

�

the econom ic de velopm ent benefits and impacts to rural and agricultural regions of the
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State, (including high-tech and low -tech job creation and loss related to feedstock supply,
rene wable fue l production , and distribution);

�

the technical, economic, and social factors that could impact the com me rcial viability of
renewable fuels (including the question of when future renewable fuels are likely to become
available at large scale; the effect of increasing renewable fuel production and demand on
the price of biomass feedstocks, renewable fuel, land, food, and feed in New York; as well as
the effect on the State’s en ergy security an d fuel so urce diversity);

�

the highest-value uses of sustainable biom ass (i.e. is use of biom ass to produce renew able
fuel and its coproducts the most efficient use of biomass and the most effective pathway for
reducing fossil fuel use and greenhouse gases, or are there more beneficial uses of
biom ass?);

�

a detailed b aseline and analysis of future trends for the m etrics of sustainable land
mana gem ent: models and measurement tools (including geospatial) to assess land
man agem ent and cha racteristics including soil type, slope, water resources, sensitive
habitats, bio diversity and carbon storage;

�

land use inventory and resource condition (including a detailed baseline and analysis of
future trends for changes in land use), standing biomass (forests, crops, agricultural
residues, and forest residues), available marginal lands, and suitability for future bioenergy
crops; and,

�

feedstock supp ly including a detailed baseline and analysis of future trends, identification of
new and improved feedstocks; techniques for planting, harvesting, production, storage,
transportation, and processing; feedstock distribution infrastructure needs; geographical
variation within New York, as well as an analysis of competing uses for existing, new and
imp roved feedstocks. In clud e w aste feedstocks but exclude m ixed municipa l solid wa ste
stream s from consideration.
The Final R eport for the Roadma p should explore the objectives and provide information that will help the Task
Force address the following questions in order to set strategic and performance goals for renewable fuels in New
York:
�
What are the policy drivers and how should they be prioritized? What are the current problems and how
should we approach the solutions? What targets are needed? How do we create performance-based
standards and policies that continually improve the environment and New York’s economy, rather than
feedstock-specific or technology-specific policies that create artificial market responses with unintended
consequences?
�
What are the performan ce standards and environm ental safeguards needed to responsibly produce and use
renewable fuels in New York? For example, is a low-carbon fuel standard a sensible approach?
�
If the first generation of renewable fuels is represented by corn-based ethanol and soy-based biodiesel, what
are the second and third generation opportunities?
�
What role should incentives play as New Yo rk transitions to advanced renew able fuels and where are those
incentives best placed? What is the role of government? How does government create policies that are not
too stringent, too lax or too transient to be effective, yet are flexible enough to address future circumstances?
�
Are there options for growing renewable fuels in New York that lead beyond sustainability to an actual
enhancement of the environment and public health?
�
What time frame should subsidies take and how should funding for the incentives be provided?
�
What is the magnitude and time frame of the annual investment in research and development to provide a
sustainable supply of feedstock to meet the projected demand?
�
What will ensure success for a renewable fuels industry in New York?
�
How can New York integrate our renewable fuels efforts with efforts elsewhere in the Northeast and
nationally? How should New York incorporate international (e.g. Canadian) feedstock availability into our
plans?
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II. PROGRAM REQUIREMENTS
WHO MAY PROPOSE

�

Proposers are encouraged to form interdisciplinary teams when appropriate to meet project
goals.
�
Team s m ay consist of a va riety o f entities: scientists; analysts; tec hnologists ; exp erts
in specific fields; economists; comm ercial firms; government organizations;
universities; re search organiza tions; industry as sociations; or other stakeholders.
�
Results-oriented teams are encouraged with expertise in technical, business,
analytical, operations, technical communication, financing, and administrative fields.
�
Teams may consider providing the following technical expertise: environmental
scientists; social scientists; agronomists; public policy analysts; economists;
technologists ; exp erts in: renewa ble fuel processin g – thermochemical and biological,
forestry, agriculture, fuel production and fuel distribution; or experts in other fields, as
appropriate.

�

The lead proposer could be any organization responsible for successful completion of the
project. If the proposal is selected for funding, the lead proposer will enter into an Agreement
with NY SE RD A as NYS ER DA ’s co ntractor.

�

Include letters of comm itment from each team mem ber in an appendix to the proposal.

Proposers must:

#

#

Address each of th e specific objectives listed in Section I. Proposers m ust subm it
comprehensive proposals that address in detail all of the objectives in Section I, but that
emp hasize gathering the follow ing information for the Final Report:
�
Recognizing the appropriate performance standards and environmental safeguards,
provide information and an analysis of th e im plica tions of existing or potential long
term policy or investment options, including the probability of success o f specific
approaches based on technical and econom ic criteria;

�

A similar analysis of th e im plica tions of existing or potential near-term policy or
investment options, given the uncertainties in information available now. What
policies make sense to im plement now, and wh at should wa it?

�

Identify where additional scientific inquiry is needed, including data uncertainties,
specific areas of interest for future research, and research priorities.

�

Identify public outreach needs.

Include tasks in the proposed work that define and address:
�
renewable fuels that are curren tly being used, near-term rene wable fue ls that are
very close to sig nificantly contributing to the reduction in fos sil fuel use in a th ree to
ten year time period, and promising future renewable fuels that may make significant
contributions in more than ten years;

�

renewable fuels and their coproducts;

�

the current baseline, as well as future trends that reflect the rapidly evolving
technological change s impacting renew able fuel production and feedstock a vailability;
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�

complete pathways from land use to feedstock to fuel to end use applications;

�

varying technologies to produce renewable fuels;

�

a com parison of renew able fue ls with the fossil fuels the y rep lace , including trends in
the fossil fuel industry such as the changing composition of crude oil; and,

�

factors specific to New Yo rk’s unique natural and econom ic resources as they rela te
to the N ortheast region.

#

Includ e tasks in the pro posed w ork that describe coordination with a Roadm ap A dviso ry
Group, as directed. Membership in the Roadmap Advisory Group at a minimum w ill include
the Governor’s Office, NYSERD A, Department of Environmental Conservation, the
De partment of Agriculture & Markets, and N ew York State De partment of Economic
Development. Where appropriate, work should also include coordination with other entities
the Advisory Group m ay identify.

#

Includ e tasks in the pro posed w ork that describe how information will be gathered from
stakeholders (e.g. landowners, loggers, farmers, state agencies, environmental groups,
renewable fuel producers, biotechnology companies, petroleum companies, petroleum
distributers, pe troleum ma rketers, end-users of renewable fue ls).

#

Define specific deliverables to be met at the completion of each task. Interim deliverables
that provide frequent feedback to NYSERD A and the Roadm ap Advisory Group for their use
in evaluation of progress are strongly encouraged. It is anticipated that certain tasks (or
chapters in the Final Report) w ill need to be completed earlier than others. In particular, the
Draft Preliminary Report should: identify uncertainties, provide a detailed baseline of New
York’s fe edstock s upply, includ ing an assessm ent of the availability of New Y ork’s
sustainable biomass supply, and provide a detailed baseline of New York’s land use.

#

Describe, briefly in the Executive Summary and in more detail in a Research Methodology
Addendum, the research methodology, including how data will be gathered and analyzed,
wh at m odels w ill be used and wh y tho se models w ere chosen. Be clea r about what will not
be addresse d in the Ro admap.

#

Describe the managem ent plan, including how the management plan has been organized,
and how the team will partner w ith oth er research groups.

#

Describe how the technical breadth of the project tea m addresse s the necessary ba lance of
interdisciplinary exp erience for succe ssfu lly completing the project.

#

Provide evidence of a demonstrated track record of successfully completing complex
subject-relevant technica l reports or publications in a tim ely fashion.

#

Include tasks in the proposal to develop and implement strategies to measure success of
the project. Specify performance goals.

#

Submit a per-tas k cost table. It is anticipated that projects will be paid on a performance
basis a s per-task d eliverables a re m et.

#

Address the required timeline for the p ropo sed work. At a minimum, deliverables are
expected on the following dates: Outline of the Preliminary Report on November 20, 2008,
Draft Preliminary Report on March 16, 2009, Preliminary Report on July 15, 2009 and Final
Report on September 15, 2009. Following submission of the Final Report, the successful
contractor will be expec ted to provide annual upd ates to the Road map for two consecutive
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years.

#

#

Cost sharing is not required.

�

NY SE RD A’s share of funding will be limited to a maxim um of $750,000.

�

Proposals must provide value to NYSERDA comm ensurate with funding requested.
The amount of funding requested will be considered for overall rea sonableness w ith
respect to meeting project objectives.

In addition, proposers are encouraged to identify and emphasize, as appropriate, other
innovative and effective approaches, strategies, and tools that support the goals and
objectives of this program.

Other Considerations:

#

A proposal may be considered non-responsive if it fails to comply w ith the requirements
above, the Proposal Format of Section III, or the General Conditions of Section V.

#

Before an aw ard is made, potential con tractors may b e required to dem onstrate: acce ss to
financial resources sufficient to perform the proposed work, appropriate technical experience
and adequate facilities (or the ability to access them), a good performance record, and the
ability to qualify for an award under applicable laws and regulations.

III. PROPOSAL REQUIREMENTS
Format - Your goal as a proposer should be to concisely present the inform ation needed to fully
address the objectives and evaluation criteria (see Section I and IV). Proposals that grossly exceed
the page limits or fail to follow the format guideline s m ay b e rejecte d as non-responsive.
Proposers must submit one original and nine copies (total of 10) of the completed proposal to the
attention of Roseanne Viscusi at th e address on the front of this R equest for Proposals. A
completed and signed Proposal Checklist must be attached as the front cover of your proposal, one
of which must contain an original signature. Late proposals a nd proposals lacking the appropriate
completed and signed Proposal Checklist will be returned. Faxed or e-mailed copies will be not be
accepted.
Proposals should not be excessively long or submitted in an elaborate format that includes
exp ensive binders or graphics. U nnecessary atta chments beyo nd those sufficient to present a
complete, co mprehensive, and effective response w ill not influence the evaluation of the proposal.
Each page of the proposal should state the name of the proposer, the RFP number, and the page
number. The proposal m ust be in the follow ing form at:
Proposal Checklist - Co mplete and sign the Proposal Checklist attached to this R FP , and includ e it
as the front cover of each copy of the proposal. Note the following:

#

#

Indicate whether you accept the Standard Terms and Conditions as contained in the
attached Sample Agreement. If you do not accept the Standard Terms and Conditions, be
prepared to provide alternative terms with justification based on the risk a nd benefit to
NYSERD A and New York State.
Be sure the individual signing the Ch ecklist is authorized to commit the p roposer’s
organization to the proposal as submitted.

Procurement Lobbying Requirements – State Finance Law sections 139-j and 139-k :
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Procurement lobbying requirements contained in State Finance Law sections 139-j and
139-k became effective on January 1, 2 006. (The text o f the laws are available at:
http://ww w.ogs.state.ny.us/ab outogs/regulations/advisoryCo uncil/StatutoryReferences.html).
In com plian ce with §139-j and §139-k of the State Finance Law, for proposals su bm itted in
response to this solicitation that could result in agreem ents with an annual estim ated va lue in
excess of $15,000, additional forms must be completed and filed with proposals: (1) a signed
copy of the Proposal Checklist including required certifications under the State Finance Law
and (2) a com pleted Disclos ure of Prior Findings of Non-R esponsibility form. Failure to
inclu de a signed copy o f the Proposal Checklist referenced in this solicitation w ill disqualify
you r proposal.
1. Exe cutive S um mary - Briefly summarize your proposal emphasizing the following:

#
#

#
#

The problem or opportunity and its significance to Ne w Y ork State.
Describe briefly the research methodology, including how data will be gathered and
ana lyzed, what mode ls will be used an d why tho se m ode ls we re chosen. (Pro vide m ore
detail in the R esearch Methodology A ddendum as described in III.6. Appendix, and fully
describe re search m ethodology in specific tasks in the S tatem ent of Work, as approp riate.)
Alternative approaches, and why your proposed approach was selected. Include
assumptions.
Benefits if the project is successful. Quantify the benefits to the extent possible.
The executive summary should be no more than two or three pages in length. Please
put the bulk of your effort into fully describing each task in the Statement of Work.

2. Statement of Work - Provide the following:
The Statement of Work (SOW ) is the primary document that outlines work activities and required
performance for payment by NYS ERD A. It is an action docume nt that specifically delineates each
step or procedure required to accomplish the project objectives. Therefore, each action shall be
identified, indicating who will perform it, how it will be performed and its intended result. Be clear
and specific; concentrate on "how" and not "why". Include quantifiable milestones as deliverables
where possible.

You may use the following Statement of Work outline as the basis for your Statement of Work and
expand or modify it as necessary to fit your project and provide additional information.

The Statement of Work must be structured as an ordered set of tasks as follows:
Introduction:

Briefly and clearly state the overall technical and performance goa ls of the project.

TASK 1: PROJECT MANAGEMENT
Subtask 1.1: Project Manager
The Contractor sha ll assign [insert name] as project manager w ho w ill be resp onsible for co mm unica tions w ith
NYSERD A and coordination of all project personnel, subcontractors, schedule, budget, and reporting. [Name] shall serve
as the coordinator between all project participants, including coordination of written progress reports, conference calls,
project review m eetings, and other developm ents.
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Subtask 1.2: Advisory Group Meetings
At a minimum, plan a kickoff Advisory Group meeting and a wrap-up Advisory Group meeting. For each Advisory Group
meeting, prepare a meeting agenda (in advance), take minutes, and describe key meeting results in the monthly and final
repo rts. Arrange the A dvisory G roup kickoff meeting to presen t strategy and discuss pro ject scope, ob jectives, and o verall
task prioritization, as w ell as interim g oals. Arrange a w rap-u p Advisory Gro up m eeting towa rds the end o f the pro ject to
present findings and discuss the Advisory Group’s comments on the preliminary report. In order to allow for detailed
Advisory Group comments, distribute the preliminary report to the Advisory Group at least 2 weeks in advance of the
wra p-up meeting. A lthoug h the preliminary report mu st address all deliverables, be prepared to perform further analysis
as required to address Advisory Group comm ents and incorporate them into the final report. (see note in Budget section)
Deliverables:
Kick-off Presentation to Advisory Group
Kick-off meeting
Wrap-up Presentation to Advisory Group
Wrap-up meeting
Subtask 1.3: Subcontractor Coordination (If applicable)
The Contractor shall... [State how activities will be coordinated between the proposer and any partners or
subc ontractors, and N YSE RD A. A d iscussion of su bcontracting arrang ements sh ould a lso be included.]
Subtask 1.4: Reporting
Monthly Reporting
The Contractor shall prepare and submit monthly reports describing the progress of the project. Copies of the
monthly progress report sh all be su bmitted to N YSE RD A’s Project Manager. The Monthly Progress Rep orts
shall be in the following letter form at:

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

Title of project
Agreement number
Period of this report
Progress during reporting period
Planned progress in the future
Identification of problems
Planned solutions
Ability to meet sche dule a nd reason s for slipp age in schedule
Schedule -- percent completed and projected
Ana lysis of actual costs incurred in relation to the budget.

Preliminary Report
The Contractor shall prepare and submit a preliminary report to the Advisory Group, documenting the results of
the entire project thus far, including all deliverables identified in the tasks, and a brief description of all methods,
ana lyses, and results. (The length o f the prelim inary report is targete d to b e 50 pag es or less.)
1)

At least one outline sh all be given to NY SER DA for review.

2)

A first draft of the preliminary report shall be given to NYSERDA for technical review, with at least 30 days
allowed for review.

Final Report
The Contractor sha ll prepa re and sub mit a first final report, consisten t with E xhibit F of the Sample Agreement,
documenting the results of the entire project, including all deliverables identified in the tasks, and a brief
description of all method s, analyses, re com mendations, an d resu lts. (The length o f the final re port is targeted to
be 50 pa ges or less.) The Final Re port sh all include a com plete E xecu tive Su mm ary that succinctly
summ arizes findings, policy options, and future research needs. It shall identify technical or market barriers,
and ways to overcom e them .
1)

At least one outline sh all be given to NY SER DA for review.

2)

A first draft of the final report shall be given to NYSERDA for technical review, with at least 30 days
allowed for review.

3)

A sec ond draft of the final report sh all be prepa red, w hich conforms with the "Report F orm at and Style
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Guide" (the G uide contain ed in E xhibit C of the Agreement). The secon d dra ft shall address or incorpo rate
questions a nd co mm ents resulting from review of the first draft. The second draft shall be given to
NY SER DA for tech nical re view follow-up and for form at review, w ith at least 30 days allow ed for review .
4)

A copy of the final report, in compliance with Exhibit C, shall be submitted to NYSE RDA ’s Project Manager,
which ad equately addre sses N YSE RD A's co mm ents.

The Final R eport for the Roadma p should explore the objectives and provide information that will help the Task
Force address the following questions in order to set strategic and performance goals for renewable fuels in New
York:
�
What are the policy drivers and how should they be prioritized? What are the current problems and how
should we approach the solutions? What targets are needed? How do we create performance-based
standards and policies that continually improve the environment and New York’s economy, rather than
feedstock-specific or technology-specific policies that create artificial market responses with unintended
consequences?
�
What are the performan ce standards and environm ental safeguards needed to responsibly produce and use
renewable fuels in New York? For example, is a low-carbon fuel standard a sensible approach?
�
If the first generation of renewable fuels is represented by corn-based ethanol and soy-based biodiesel, what
are the second and third generation opportunities?
�
What role should incentives play as New Yo rk transitions to advanced renew able fuels and where are those
incentives best placed? What is the role of government? How does government create policies that are not
too stringent, too lax or too transient to be effective, yet are flexible enough to address future circumstances?
�
Are there options for growing renewable fuels in New York that lead beyond sustainability to an actual
enhancement of the environment and public health?
�
What time frame should subsidies take and how should funding for the incentives be provided?
�
What is the magnitude and time frame of the annual investment in research and development to provide a
sustainable supply of feedstock to meet the projected demand?
�
What will ensure success for a renewable fuels industry in New York?
�
How can New York integrate our renewable fuels efforts with efforts elsewhere in the Northeast and
nationally? How should New York incorporate international (e.g. Canadian) feedstock availability into our
plans?

Update to Final Report – Annua lly for Two Years following Final Report
One year follow ing the subm ission o f the Final Report, the Contractor sha ll prepa re and sub mit an Update
Report to the Advisory Group for technical review. The Update Report shall include documentation of technical
advances, policy changes and their potential economic impacts, changes to the body of literature, etc.
appropriate to the rapidly changing field of renewable fuels. (The length of the Update Report is targeted to be
50 pages or less.) The Contractor shall finalize the Update Report and provide a copy that adequately addresses
NYSERD A's comments. The Contractor shall repeat the update after the second year following the submission of
the final report.
Deliverables:
Monthly progress repo rts
Meetings: arrangements, agenda, minutes
Final R eport: Outline, first draft, second dra ft
Update R eports: Year One following F inal Report, Year Two following Final Report
Task 2, 3, 4, etc: Defining methodology, Developing protocols, Researching, Surveying, et al Tasks (as appropriate)
Add as many tasks and subtasks as necessary to cover all actions needed to achieve the goals and objectives of your
project. Arrange your tasks logically and elaborate on the details of each one. Be specific as to who will perform the
work, when, where, and how. Begin each task description with "Task 'X': Title, The Contractor shall.. (do such and
such )." Fully de tail tasks such as: defining m ethod ology , plann ing, develop ing protocols, resea rching literature, data
collection, analysis, preparation and subm ittal of interim reports, or reports on specific sections, or other tasks necessary
as appropriate to fulfill the research design. You must include one or more task deliverables for each task. Task
deliverables should be specific and designed to be met at task completion. Measure benefits of the project, as appropriate.
Identify and quantify performance targets. These are the means by which near-term success of the overall project will be
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measured, evaluate d, and verified against the project’s goals and objectives. Th ese targets sh ould relate to specific
project objectives, tasks, an d deliverab les, and sho uld be measured by com pletion of the project.
Your specific tasks might include the follow ing com ponen ts:
�
Document, synthesize and prepare a separate chapter in the Final Report for each of the renewable fuel topics
outlined in the objectives.
�
Review academic and private literature.
�
Review current renew able fuel policies and incentives.
�
Establish talking points, develop interviewee list, contact stakeholders, and conduct interviews, surveys, and
workshops to define renewable fuel policy and investment priorities. It is suggested one or more workshops be
held a fter the P reliminary Dra ft Repo rt is due.
�
Provide information that will help the Advisory Group implement the findings of the Roadmap.
Task 2, 3, 4, etc. deliverables:
For each task, delineate one or more specific deliverables to be met at task completion. (Required)

3. Proposed Schedule – Provide the follow ing: (one page is suggested)
#
Pre sent a realistic schedule, with a starting point and duration for each task a nd subtask in
the Statement of Work, preferably in a bar chart. Identify critical path items and timing of
major milestones. At a minimum, deliverables are expected on the following dates: Outline of
the Preliminary Report on November 20, 2008, Draft Preliminary Report on March 16, 2009,
Preliminary Report on July 15, 2009 and Final Report on September 15, 2009. Following
submission of the Final Report, the successful contractor will be expected to provide annual
Up date Reports to the R oadm ap for tw o consecutive years.
4. Proposer Qualifications and Management Plan - Iden tify the follow ing: (one to five p ages is
suggested, depending on number of team members)

#

Proposer and any other team mem bers and major subcontractors. Provide a chart showing
key roles and responsibilities, and the relationship between team mem bers. Describe the
management plan for yo ur project tea m, and how it me ets the criteria for technical,
business, analytical, operations, technical comm unication, financing, and a dministrative
exp erience that is n ecessary for succe ssfu lly completing the project.

#

Project Manager and other key individuals.

#

Qualifications of all businesses, organizations, and individuals named above, including
relevant experience and references.
•

Describe the technical breadth of your interdisciplinary team, including environmental
scientists; social scientists; agronomists; public policy analysts; economists;
technologists ; exp erts in: renewa ble fuel processin g – thermochemical and biological,
forestry, agriculture, fuel production and fuel distribution; or experts in other fields, as
appropriate.

•

Provide actual examples of team members’ experience, as appropriate.

•

Provide evidence of a demonstrated track record of successfully completing complex
subject-relevant technica l reports or publications in a tim ely fashion.

•

Describe how you will partner with other research groups during the project, as
appropriate.

•

Describe how your team is qualified to address issues specific to New York State,
including specific New York policies, biomass feedstocks, or trends in renewable fuels.
Specify team mem bers located in New York State, if any.
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#

NYS ERD A contracts awarded in the past five years, if any.

5. Budget - Provide the following:

#

Contract P ricing Propo sal Fo rm (CP PF) - [Th e C PP F, w ith associated instru ctions, is
provided as an attachment to this RFP. Each proposal must include a completed
CP PF. Addition al CPPF formats a re av ailable at:
http://ww w.nyserda.org/Funding/stdforms.asp ]
Attach supporting documentation to outline indirect cost (overhead) rate(s) included in your
proposal as follows:
1.

Describe the basis for the rates proposed (i.e., based on prior period actual results;
based on projections; based on federal government or other independently-approved
rates).

2.

If a rate is a pproved by a n independent organization, such as the federal gove rnm ent,
provide a copy of such approval.

3.

If a rate is based on estimated costs or actual results from the prior reporting period,
include calculations to support the proposed rate. Calculation should provide enough
information for NY SE RD A to eva luate and confirm that the rates are consiste nt with
generally accepted accounting principles for indirect costs.

NY SE RD A reserves the right to audit an y indirect rate presented in the proposal and to
make adjustment for any difference between the proposed and actual rate. Requests for
financial statements or other needed financial information may be made if deemed
necessa ry.

#

Per-Task Cost Table (required) It is anticipated that projects will be paid on a performance
basis as p er-task deliverables and o verall perform ance targets are m et. Therefore, proposers
must submit one table indicating both:
1) the total expenditures for each task in the Statement of Work, and
2) the percent of total effo rt for each task.
Please note: Advisory Group M eetings based in Albany, N ew York and two Annual Updates to
the Final Report are required. The Advisory Group will review the preliminary report and may
request additiona l analysis or clarification on certain tas ks. Allo w fun ds for fu rthe r analys is of
identified issu es in be twe en subm ission of the preliminary report and the draft final re port. In
addition , allow funds to allow for two substantial annual updates to the Final Report.

6. Appendix

#

Lette rs of Commitme nt or Support - If you are relying on any other organization or business
to do som e of the wo rk, provide services or equipment, or share in any no n-N YS ER DA cost,
include a letter from that organization or business describing its commitment. Also include
letters of com mitm ent or support from businesses or organizations critical to the future
commercialization, demonstration, or im plementation of the project. Absence of letters of
commitment or support will be interpreted as the proposer not having commitment or
support from those parties.

#

Research Methodology Addendum (required) –

1) Provide an outline of the structure you anticipate using to develop the Final Report (i.e. the
Ro admap). De linea te chapter headings.
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2) Answer each of the following questions regarding the soundness of your project methods and
research design :
�
How are your proposed project methods and overall research design suitable for meeting the
project objectives and yielding accepted results?
�
Where will you obtain the needed data?
�
What existing publications do you plan on using? At a minimum, you should reference the
following reports:
� NY SE RD A R eport 08-07, "The Environ mental Im pacts o f Biofuels in N ew York State,” (draft
Exe cutive Summ ary) http://www.nyserda.org/publications/default.asp
� the NYSERDA Report 07-09, “Assessing The Total Fuel Cycle Energy and Environmental
Impacts O f Alternative T ransportation Fuels: D eve lopment and U se of NY-G RE ET ,”
http://www.nyserda.org/publications/default.asp
� US DO E M ay 2 007 “N ational Biofuels Action Plan W orkshop Summary Re port,” availab le at
http://ww w.b iofuelsp ostureplan.govto ols.u s/default.as px? menu=support
� Oc tober 2007 “R oadm ap for Bioenergy and Biobased Products in the Un ited States,”
available at http://www1.eere.energy.gov/biomass/pdfs/obp_roadmapv2_web.pdf
�
What stakeholders will you contact to gather information?
�
How will you analyze the data?
�
What models will you use and why are they appropriate?
�
What definition will yo u use in your proposal as a starting point for the key concept of
“sustainab ility”?
�
Which objectives do you feel are most critical to emphasize?
�
What will not be addressed in the Roadmap? (For example, you are not expected to propose
new mo deling that describes indirect land u se im pacts as part of your tasks. You will, how ever,
be expected to cover this topic through literature review and analysis of new models and
approaches cu rrently being developed by oth ers.)
�
What are your specific targets of success and how will you measure whether you have achieved
them? For exam ple, how w ill you determ ine wh ether the sustainability criteria yo u w ill identify
during the project are ade qua te, practical and w eighted correctly relative to each other?
�
How will you present your findings to various stakeholders who have differing perspectives (e.g.
landowners, loggers, farmers, state agencies, environmental groups, renewable fuel producers,
biotechnology companies, petroleum com panies, petroleum distributers, petroleum marketers,
end-users of renewable fuels)?

#

Exceptions to the Terms and Co nditions - If you do not accept the standard terms and
conditions (including the recoupm ent provisions) as contained in the attached Sample
Agreement, provide alternate terms with justification based on the risk and benefit to NYSERDA
and N ew York State.

IV. PROPOSAL EVALUATION
Proposals will be reviewed by a Technical Evaluation Panel (TEP) and will be scored and ranked
according to the follow ing criteria.
EV AL UA TIO N C RIT ER IA

# Requirements - A negative response to any one of the questions identified below by a check
mark ( �) may eliminate the proposal from further conside ration. Do es the pro posal:
� Address th e Program Re quirem ents in S ection II?
� Include the required Per-Task Cost Table?
� Include the required Research Methodology Addendum?
# Ov erall

RFP 1249: Biomass Roadmap

13

�

Wha t is the likelihood of the proposal achieving its stated goals?

�

Have the risks been identified and addressed?

�

Ho w w ell do es the proposer understand the project?

�

Is the proposed project likely to be the best approach to exploit the opportunity?

�

How suitable and sound are the proposed project methods and overall research design for
meeting the project objectives and yielding accepted results? Did the proposer provide an
adequate explanation of research methodology, including how data will be gathered and
analyzed, what models will be used and why those models were chosen? Is an adequate outline
of the Final Report (i.e. the R oadm ap) provided? Is the re an adequate exp lanation of what will
not be covered?

�

Is the proposed work technically feasible, innovative, and superior to alternatives?

# Proposer or Proposing Team
�

Is the project’s organizational structure appropriate and does it include a single lead proposer
responsible for managing all aspects of the project and ensuring project success?

�

Are roles of responsibility for individual project personnel defined and is their experience
appropriate for their responsibilities?

�

How qua lified is the proposer or team to perform the proposed work, based on the evidence
provided?

�

Does the proposer or team show a balance of expertise appropriate for the work? How well has
the proposer organized a m anagem ent plan and a project te am with the necessa ry tec hnical,
business, analytical, operations, technical comm unication, financing, and a dministrative
exp erience for succe ssfu lly completing the project?

�

Has the proposer assembled an interdisciplinary team, including environmental scientists; social
scie ntists; agronom ists; public policy analysts; econom ists; technologists; expe rts in: renew able
fuel processing – thermochemical and biological, forestry, agriculture, fuel production and fuel
distribution; or experts in other fields, as appropriate?

�

Does the team include partnerships with other research groups?

�

Is there evidence the proposer or team is qualified to address issues specific to New York State?
Is the proposer fam iliar with sp ecific NYS policies, biom ass feedstocks , trends in renewa ble
fuels, and related topics? How many of the team members are located in New York State?

�

Is there evidence of a good performance record on other relevant projects? Specifically, does the
proposer or team have a track record of successful and timely completion of subject-relevant
technical reports or publications?

�

Does the work include appropriate coordination with the Roadmap Advisory Group?

�

How firm are the commitments from essential team participants?

# Sta tem ent of W ork (SO W) and S chedule
�

Is the SOW well-organized, clear, and complete?

�

How com prehensive, realistic, and explicit is the Statement of Work with respect to the project
objectives and proposal requirem ents? Is the level of de tail pro vided sufficient to adequately
describe the work to be accomplished?

�

Is the SOW likely to achieve the goals of the project?

�

Is the sch edule provided in adequate detail?

�

Are significant, appropriate, and quantifiable milestones and delivery of reports identified?
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�

Does each task list one or m ore specific and app ropriate deliverable(s)?

�

Did the proposer identify an effective strategy to measure project success? Did the proposer
specify appropriate, specific, and measurable performance targets where applicable?

�

How likely is the project to meet the significant milestones according to NYSERD A’s timeline
requirements?

�

Will the contractor provide annual updates to the Roadmap for two consecutive years?

# Cost
�

Is the overall project cost justified based on the proposed work and expected benefits?

�

Is the am ount of funding alloca ted for specific tasks reasonable and sufficient? In particular, is
the appropriate funding allocated for Final Report revisions and Annual Upda tes?

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS
Proposals will be reviewed to determine if they reflect NYSERD A’s overall objectives, including: the
availability and quality of public data that will come out of the project, the balance among NYSERDA
projects of long-term and short-term benefits, risk/reward relationships, similar ongoing or completed
projects, the general distribution of NYSERD A projects among industries and other organizations,
and the distribu tion of projects w ithin N ew York State.

V. GENERAL CONDITIONS
Proprietary Information - Ca reful con side ration should be given before confidential inform ation is
submitted to NYSERD A as part of your proposal. Review should include whether it is critical for
evaluating a proposal, and whether general, non-confidential information, may be adequate for
review purposes.
The N YS Freedom of Inform ation Law , Public O fficers law, Article 6, provides for public acce ss to
information N YS ER DA posse sse s. Public Officers Law, S ection 87(d)(2) provides for exc eptions to
disclosure for records or portions thereof that "are trade secrets or are subm itted to an age ncy by a
comm ercial enterprise or derived from information obtained from a comm ercial enterprise and which
if disclosed would cause substantial injury to the competitive position of the subject e nterprise."
Information submitted to NYSERD A that the proposer wishes to have treated as proprietary, and
confidential trade secret information, should be identified and labeled "Co nfidential" or "Proprietary"
on each page at the tim e of disclosu re. This inform ation should include a written request to e xce pt it
from disclosure, including a written statement of the reasons why the information should be
excepted. Se e Public O fficers Law, Sec tion 89 (5) and the procedu res set forth in 21 N YC RR Part
501 www.nyserda.org/nyserda.regulations.pdf. However, NYSERD A cannot guarantee the
confidentiality of any information submitted.
Omn ibus Procurement Act of 1992 - It is the policy of New York State to maximize opportunities
for the participation of New York State business enterprises, including minority- and women-owned
business enterprises, as bidders, subcontractors, and suppliers on its procurement Agreements.
Information on the availability of New York subcontractors and suppliers is available from:
Empire State Development
Division For Small Business
30 South Pearl Street
Albany, NY 12245
A directory of certified minority- and women-owned business enterprises is available from:
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Empire State Development
Minority and Wom en's Business Development Division
30 South Pearl Street
Albany, NY 12245
State Fin anc e La w sec tions 139 -j and 139 -k - NYSER DA is required to comply with State Finance
Law sections 139-j and 139-k. These provisions contain procurement lobbying requirements which
can be found at
http://www.ogs.state.ny.us/aboutogs/regulations/advisoryCouncil/StatutoryReferences.html
The attached Proposal Checklist calls for a sign ature certifying that the proposer w ill com ply w ith
State Finance Law sections 139-j and 139-k and the Disclosure of Prior Findings of Nonresponsibility form includes a disclosure statement regarding whether the proposer has been found
non-responsible under section 139-j of the State Finance Law within the previous four years.
Tax Law Section 5-a - NYSERDA is required to comply with the provisions of Tax Law Section 5-a,
which requires a prospective contractor, prior to entering an agreement with NYSERD A having a
value in excess of $100,000, to certify to the Department of Taxa tion and Finance (the "D epartm ent")
whether the con tractor, its affiliates, its subcon tractors and the affiliates of its subcontractors have
registered with the Department to collect New York State and local sales and compensating use
taxes. The Department has created a form to allow a prospective contractor to readily make such
certification. See, ST-220-TD (a vailable at
http://ww w.tax.state.ny.us/pdf/2006/fillin/st/st220td_606_fill_in.pdf). Prior to contracting with
NYSE RDA , the prospective contractor must also certify to NYSER DA w hether it has filed such
certification with the Department. The Department has created a second form that must be
completed by a perspective contractor prior to contacting and filed with NYSERDA. See, ST-220-CA
(available at http://www.tax.state.ny.us/pdf/2006/fillin/st/st220ca_606_fill_in.pdf ). The Department
has deve loped guidance for contractors w hich is availab le at
http://ww w.tax.state.ny.us/pdf/publica tions/sa les/p ub223_606.pdf.
Contract Award - NYSERD A anticipates making one award under this solicitation. It may award a
contract based on initial applications without discussion, or following limited discussion or
negotiations. Each offer should be submitted using the most favorable cost and technical terms.
NYSERD A may request additional data or material to support applications. NYSERDA will use the
Sample Agreement to co ntract su cce ssfu l proposals. NYS ER DA exp ects to n otify proposers in
approximately eight weeks from the proposal due date whether a given proposal has been selected
to receive an award.
Limitation - This solicitation does not commit NYSERD A to award a contract, pay any costs incurred
in preparing a proposal, or to procure or contract for services or supplies. NYSERD A reserves the
right to acce pt or reject any o r all proposals received, to negotiate w ith all qualified sources, or to
cancel in p art or in its e ntirety the solicitation w hen it is in NY SE RD A's best inte rest.
Disclos ure Requirem ent - The proposer shall disclose any indictment for any alleged felony, or any
conviction for a felony within the past five years, under the laws of the United States or any state or
territory of the United States, and shall describe circumstances for each. When a proposer is an
association, partnership, corporation, or other organization, this disclosure requirement includes the
organization and its officers, partners, and directors or mem bers of any sim ilarly gove rning body. If
an indictm ent or conviction should come to the attention of NY SE RD A after the awa rd of a co ntract,
NYSERD A may exercise its stop-work right pending further investigation, or terminate the
agreement; the contractor may be subject to penalties for violation of any law that may apply in the
particular circumstances. Proposers must also disclose if they have ever been debarred or
suspen ded by any agen cy of the U .S. Governm ent or the N ew York State Depa rtment of Labo r.
Attachm ents
Attachment A - P roposal Checklist
Attachme nt B - Disclosure of Prior Findings of Non-respons ibility
Attachment C - C ontract Pricing Proposal Form (CP PF ) and Instruction s (This is the budget form.)
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Attachment D - S am ple Agreement
(If you are selected, the Sample Agreement will form the basis of the contract you
wo uld sign with NY SE RD A. D o not use Exhibits E or F of the Sam ple Agreement to
format the prop osal you a re subm itting now. Those are intend ed for the Final Repo rt
you wo uld subm it upo n com pletion of the project.)

RFP 1249: Biomass Roadmap

17

